# **RECEIVED** 02-27-2014

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

## CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

#### SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2011AP001467-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,

V.

DONYIL LEEITON ANDERSON, SR.,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Petition for Review of the Decision of the Court of Appeals, District 4, Entered on August 15, 2013, Granting a Discretionary Reversal of the Judgment of Conviction and Remanding for a New Trial Under Wis. Stat. § 752.35

#### BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

WILLIAM E. SCHMAAL Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1017331

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 267-1773 schmaalw@opd.wi.gov

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. Whether the circuit court erred in instructing the jury that "[a] temporary mental state which is brought into existence by the voluntary taking of drugs or alcohol does not constitute a mental defect," for purposes of the mental responsibility defense under Wis. Stat. § 971.15, because the trial evidence supported reasonable factual findings that Anderson had a mental defect which arose primarily from his lawful use of prescribed medicine, together with his lawful consumption of a moderate amount of alcohol and other secondary factors?

The court of appeals concluded that Anderson's claims of jury instruction error had been forfeited in the circuit court.

2. If the jury instruction was error, then was it harmless?

The court of appeals concluded that ostensible credibility issues relating to the testimony of Anderson's expert witness were matters for the jury to resolve, not the court.

3. Whether the court of appeals erroneously exercised its discretion in granting a new trial in the interests of justice, under Wis. Stat. § 752.35, because the jury instruction was materially misleading with respect to the critical effect of Anderson's lawful use of prescribed medicine or alcohol upon the availability of the mental responsibility defense?

The court of appeals explained why it granted a new trial in the interests of justice, but it did not purport to review its own exercise of discretion

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Defendant-Appellant Donyil Leeiton Anderson, Sr., requests oral argument because this brief raises a novel issue of Wisconsin law which is of statewide importance, and is capable of recurring, concerning the availability of the mental responsibility defense, Wis. Stat. § 971.15, when it is asserted that a mental defect arose primarily from the lawful use of prescribed medicine, together with the moderate consumption of alcohol and other factors

Publication of the Supreme Court's decision is warranted for the same reasons.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Defendant-Appellant Donyil Leeiton Anderson, Sr., respectfully exercises his privilege, as the respondent, not to provide a statement of the case. Wis. Stat. Rule § 809.19(3)(a)2.

### SUMMARY OF THE FACTS<sup>1</sup>

At the trial, evidence was presented in support of the following facts.

On June 9, 2008, Donyil Anderson was a 34-year-old graduate of Beloit High School and an unmarried father of two children, who was employed at the Hormel Foods plant. (74:Exhibit 34:5-6; Exhibit 36:3-4). Anderson went to the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Some of the documentary trial exhibits are not paginated. Anderson's citations to those documents follow the simple protocol of attaching page numbers such that the first page is 1, the second page is 2, etc.

Crossroads Counseling Center ("Crossroads") in Janesville on that day for the purpose of obtaining medical services to address problems with his mental concentration, including possible attention deficit hyperactivity disorder ("ADHD"), which problems were affecting him at home and at work. (*id.*). During the intake process, Crossroads was informed that Anderson had previously attempted suicide in 1999. (74:Exhibit 34:7; Exhibit 36:5).

Two days later, Crossroads administered a psychological test to Anderson, and the psychologist's findings were consistent with attention deficit disorder ("ADD"). (74: Exhibit 36:7-18).

On June 25, 2008, Crossroads physician Dr. Marek Hann, M.D., issued a prescription to Anderson for a medicine known as Strattera. (74:Exhibit 34:11; Exhibit 36:19, 22; 92:28, 54). The dosage was intended to begin at 18 milligrams, and then to increase to 36 milligrams, to 50 milligrams, and to 80 milligrams (id.),2 and the medicine was prescribed to be taken once per day. (92:56). Dr. Hann also gave Anderson a 30-day sample package of Strattera at that time. (74:Exhibit 37; 92:66).

Anderson's patient records at Crossroads display a blank line where Dr. Hann was supposed to acknowledge that he had warned Anderson about the possible side effects of the Strattera medicine on June 25, 2008. (74:Exhibit 34:11;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The written prescription dated June 25, 2008, actually shows a dosage of 80 milligrams. (74:Exhibit 36:19; Exhibit 37).

Dr. Hann was unable to testify as a defense witness at the trial by virtue of his own hospitalization, and the parties stipulated that the Crossroads medical records could be admitted through the testimony of Crossroads' contractual psychologist, Mr. Michael Kaye, Ph.D. (92:6-8, 17-18).

Exhibit 36:22). The records do not contain any specific information about the potential side effects of Strattera.

On July 9, 2008, approximately two weeks after Anderson began using the Strattera medicine, he battered his live-in girlfriend, Stacey Hosey ("Stacey"), for the first time. (92:80). Stacey told the police that she had been arguing with Anderson when he began to strike her with an open hand. (22:2; 74:Exhibit 40:2).

Anderson and Stacey had previously lived together as an unmarried couple for almost five years with their infant son, "DJ," and Stacey's daughter by another father, Skylar. (92:78). Anderson and Stacey had been engaged to be married in the fall of 2007, but they separated after Stacey began dating other men, including Brandon Beavers-Jackson ("Brandon"). (22:2; 74:Exhibit 40:2; 92:79). Anderson and Stacey later reconciled for several months until the battery incident on July 9, 2008, after which Anderson moved out of their home in Beloit and went to stay at the residence of a friend. (22:2; 74:Exhibit 40:2; 89:23-24; 92:79-80, 115-17). The friend observed that Anderson took his medicine once per day, three times per week. (92:117-18).

Anderson's second appointment with Dr. Hann occurred on July 23, 2008, and the dosage of the prescribed Strattera medicine was increased to 100 milligrams at that time. (74:Exhibit 34:5; Exhibit 36:3, 19; Exhibit 37; 92:30-31; 92:38-39). Anderson's prescription had recently been filled on July 19, 2008, at a dosage of 80 milligrams. (74:Exhibit 35:2; 92:51, 53). Anderson was not scheduled to return to Crossroads again until October, 2008, three months later. (74:Exhibit 34:5; Exhibit 36:3; 92:39-40).

ShopKo pharmacy records associated with the filling of Anderson's prescription on July 19, 2008, warned that "[t]his medicine may increase the risk of suicidal thoughts or actions in children and teenagers" with ADHD. (74:Exhibit 35:4). The records also cautioned that such risks may affect adults, especially persons who have a history of suicidal thoughts or actions. (74:Exhibit 35:5). The pharmacy records advised Anderson to "contact your doctor immediately" if you experience "mental or mood changes" or "new and worsening behavior changes (eg, aggression, hostility, restlessness)." (id.).

On August 7<sup>th</sup> and the morning of August 8, 2008, Anderson and Stacey engaged in a series of telephone calls and text messages with each other. (74:Exhibit 31; Exhibit 32; 90:67-68, 76-77). Anderson's text messages to Stacey reflected aggressiveness and hostility, including a statement that "Im with someone and I don't need ur shit" [*sic*], and statements advising her that Anderson had been having sexual relations with other women and that he hadn't touched Stacey for two months because she was "a dead fuck" [*sic*]. (74:Exhibit 32; 90:80-86). One of Stacey's text messages to Anderson responded that "throwing another female in my face is whateva, just makes me feel better about branden." [*sic*] (id.).

On August, 9, 2008, at approximately 2:15 a.m., Anderson was placed under arrest by a Janesville police officer for alleged battery as the result of a punching incident at a tavern. (93:38-40). Anderson was transported to the police station for booking, and he told the officer that he had a right to defend himself and that he had done nothing wrong. (93:40-41). Anderson was released from custody at approximately 3:00 a.m. with a summons because he

presented himself as coherent and alert and he did not appear to be under the influence of intoxicants. (93:42-43).

During that night, Stacey's next-door neighbor was awakened by a very loud noise of banging on wood, which stopped and re-started again. (89:46-49). The neighbor saw Anderson, whom she recognized as Stacey's former boyfriend, walk down the steps from the front porch and go to the back porch where he kicked in the door. (89:49-51, 58). Stacey's neighbor called "9-1-1." (89:51). She then heard Stacey say "get out, get out," followed by screaming, after which Stacey said "I love you" and Anderson said "you lying bitch." (89:52). When the police arrived at the scene, the neighbor found Stacey sitting in the driveway, bleeding, and Stacey stated that Anderson had done this to her. (89:54-58). The neighbor had never seen Anderson act violently before. (89:59).

At approximately 3:00 a.m., a police officer arrived at the scene and he was initially stopped in the street by Brandon, who was wearing only bloody undershorts and appeared to have suffered abdominal stab wounds. (89:23-25, 43-45). The officer called an ambulance and proceeded to Stacey's house, where he saw Stacey sitting in the driveway in a silky nightgown, covered in blood. (89:26-27, 45). The officer also saw Anderson lying facedown in the driveway and he shouted at Anderson, who then stood up holding a knife overhead. (89:27-30). Anderson refused to comply with the officer's orders to put down the knife, and Anderson stumbled toward the officer while repeatedly asking to be killed. (89:30-32). The officer eventually subdued Anderson by employing an electrical shock device known as a Taser three separate times (89:32-36), after which Anderson was handcuffed. (89:40). The officer observed that both of Anderson's wrists had been cut. (89:40, 43).

Brandon had previously dated Stacey for a few months during the fall of 2007, while she was still living with Anderson, and he resumed his relationship with her only a week before this incident. (89:78-80, 89-90). Brandon had arrived at Stacy's home at approximately 12:00 a.m. on August 9, 2008, and he fell asleep in Stacey's bed. (89:80-81, 91-92). He was awakened to the sounds of Stacey's screaming and a man's voice. (89:81, 92). Brandon went to investigate and it appeared to him that Anderson was striking and kicking at Stacey. (89:82, 92-93).

Brandon pushed Anderson and ran back into the bedroom, where he unsuccessfully tried to call "9-1-1" on his cellular telephone. (89:83, 93). Brandon heard Anderson say "I'm going to kill you," and Anderson began looking for Brandon. (89:84, 94-95, 98-99). To Brandon, Anderson seemed to be acting out of control. (89:95). Brandon then struck Anderson in the head with a glass candleholder, and Brandon was stabbed as the two men fought. (89:85, 96-97; 90:10). Brandon ran outside to look for help just as a police officer was arriving at the scene. (89:86).

After the police secured the area, a search of the premises revealed a horrific story. Outside, Brandon's parked automobile had broken windows on both sides, and a serrated knife and a large amount of spilled blood were visible in Stacey's driveway. (89:104-05, 108, 110-14, 132-35). Inside the house, broken kitchen knives and bloodstains were located almost everywhere, and even the couch showed signs that it had been slashed or stabbed with a knife. (89:115-32; 90:3-11, 16-25).

Stacey was transported to a hospital for medical treatment, but her life could not be saved. (90:50-51). An autopsy examination disclosed numerous "sharp force" or

edged-weapon injuries to Stacey's head and neck, legs, arms and hands, as well as several penetrating wounds to her chest which resulted in death. (90:49-61, 64-65).

Anderson was also transported to a hospital for medical treatment, and he gave two recorded statements to police detectives. (74:Exhibit 27, Exhibit 28, Exhibit 29, Exhibit 30; 90: 68-75).

In his first hospital statement, Anderson said that earlier on August 8, 2008, Stacey had invited him to come over to her house at a later time. (74:Exhibit 28:6). Anderson complied, and when he arrived he was surprised to find that Brandon was also present. (74:Exhibit 28:7). Anderson said that Stacey and Brandon taunted him at that time, whereupon he "just like snapped and like blacked out." (74:Exhibit 28:8-9). Anderson stated that "I didn't go over there to hurt nobody," but Stacey and Brandon "barely had any clothes on" and he didn't think that Brandon was the person that Stacey should have. (74:Exhibit 28:11-12). Anderson concluded that he loved Stacey, and he said "I'd rather have killed nobody, man." (74:Exhibit 28:17-18).

In his second hospital statement, Anderson repeated that "it wasn't my intention to go there and, to hurt nobody." (74:Exhibit 30:1). Anderson said that he was in a "jealous rage" when Stacey and Brandon taunted him, and he "just snapped." (74:Exhibit 30:2-3). According to Anderson, Stacey was "just ranting and raving and down on me." (74:Exhibit 30:6). Anderson stated that his actions with the knives happened "all so fucking fast," "just zoom, zoom, zoom," that he didn't even realize he was still holding a knife while he was punching Brandon. (74:4, 9-10). Anderson asserted that he had not been intoxicated from drinking beer

earlier that night, but that the Strattera medicine that he was taking "made me real edgy." (74:Exhibit 30:12, 17-18).

Dr. Hugh Johnston, M.D., conducted a psychiatric examination of Anderson, and he testified at the trial as an expert witness on behalf of the defense. (92:127-243). Dr. Johnston is a psychiatrist and an associate professor at the University of Wisconsin Hospitals and Clinics who has a subspecialty in psychopharmacology, which is the study of psychiatric drugs. (74:Exhibit 39; 92:127-30).

By way of background information, Dr. Johnston said that he had found Anderson to be a "substantially average" person of "typical intelligence." (92:139). However, Anderson had had "at least two and probably more episodes of major depression" in his life which "plagued" him. (92:140, 187-89). Dr. Johnston also noted that Anderson had a "conflicted romantic relationship" with Stacey, and Dr. Johnston was informed that Anderson's previous suicide attempt corresponded to a failed romantic relationship with the mother of Anderson's first child when that woman had also begun dating other men. (74:Exhibit 40:2; 92:141-42, 173-74).

In Dr. Johnston's opinion, the Crossroads clinic had erroneously diagnosed Anderson's mental health issue as ADD, rather than depression. (92:142-44, 156). Dr. Johnston also criticized the Crossroads regimen of Strattera medicine as a "third line" course of treatment to be adopted only after safer alternatives had been exhausted. (92:145-46, 156). Dr. Johnston explained that relevant scientific studies showed "in a small but regularly occurring percentage of people who take Strattera, what emerges is a propensity toward intense emotionality, a propensity. And then part of that intense emotionality is also a loss of impulse control. And in a

smaller percentage, it's been associated with homicidal behavior and actual homicide, and to a larger extent, suicidal behavior and suicide." (74:Exhibit 40:8; 92:152).

Applying these considerations to the known facts, Dr. Johnston concluded that Anderson had likely been able to appreciate the wrongfulness of his acts at the time of the incident with Stacey and Brandon on August 9, 2008. (74:Exhibit 40:6; 92:160-61).

However, in Dr. Johnston's opinion, Anderson was unable to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law as "a direct result of a mental disease or defect caused by a combination of factors." (74:Exhibit 40:6; 92:161). Those factors were: first, that "Anderson's ability to exert self-control in emotionally provocative settings has been mildly impaired throughout his adult life"; second, that Anderson "was suffering from his second episode of major depressive disorder which was not appropriately treated"; third, that Anderson's self-control was additionally impaired by the impact of Strattera on his brain functioning"; and fourth, these factors "were all further compounded by his ingestion of alcohol." (74:Exhibit 40:6; 92:161-62).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Anderson told the detectives that he only drank "a few beers" at the tavern in Janesville because he had to go to work that morning. (74:Exhibit 30:12-13). Anderson's hospital records were not received into evidence, but toxicology tests of Anderson's blood specimens were reported to show a blood alcohol concentration of 0.0176% (92:220) and 0.15%. (93:25). The evidentiary record does not explain this discrepancy.

A toxicologist testified that Anderson's blood specimen was "negative" for the presence of Strattera, by which he meant that it was less than the limit of his ability to detect that medication, namely 10 nanograms per milliliter. (93:23-28). He conceded that a blood specimen that had been taken at an earlier time might produce a different result, however. (93:27).

Dr. Johnston emphasized that Anderson had a "profound mental defect" by virtue of changes in his brain which had lasted longer in time than the homicidal acts, themselves. (74:Exhibit 40:6-7; 92:162-64, 217).<sup>4</sup> Dr. Johnston further opined that the Strattera medicine played "a very important role" in those brain changes, and that it was "highly unlikely" that Stacey would have been killed if the Strattera medicine had not been involved. (92:165-66).

Mr. Christopher Tyre, Ph.D., is a psychologist in private practice who works for the state Department of Corrections, and he testified as an expert witness on behalf of the prosecution. (93:44-101). Mr. Tyre's evaluation was based largely upon his review of written records and a "clinical interview" of Anderson at the jail. (74:Exhibit 49:1-2; 93:51-63).

Mr. Tyre concluded that Anderson had been able to appreciate the wrongfulness of his behavior and to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law. (74:Exhibit 49:5; 93:67). Mr. Tyre reported that he had consulted with a psychiatrist and a pharmacist about Strattera medicine, specifically, and he "could find no information" suggesting that Anderson's use of Strattera had rendered him unable to

Dr. Johnston testified that the "duration of action" of a drug, or its clinical effect on a person, is a different concept than the physical presence of the drug in the blood stream. (92:166). He explained that he "would expect that at the time it became possible to draw blood and measure Strattera blood levels in [Anderson's] body, that they would be zero or very close to it. But it's important to understand that that does not mean the drug effect would be absent. . . ." (92:167).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Hospital records that Dr. Johnston had reviewed indicated that Anderson had been "combative" at the first hospital he was taken to, and that several police officers were required to physically control him. (74:Exhibit 40:4).

conform his behavior to the requirements of the law. (74:Exhibit 49:4-5; 93:71, 74, 80-82, 85-88).

Mr. Tyre conceded, however, that his conversations with the psychiatrist and the pharmacist had not been "about what the potential side effects of Strattera were." (93:87). He also said that he understands Wisconsin law to dictate that "voluntary intoxication, which can include a psychiatric medication, does not qualify as a mental disease or defect." (93:95, 99).

Such additional facts as may be relevant to this appeal will be set forth, and cited to the trial court record, in the Argument below.

#### **ARGUMENT**

- I. The Circuit Court Erred in Instructing the Jury that "[a] Temporary Mental State Which Is Brought Into Existence by the Voluntary Taking of Drugs or Alcohol Does Not Constitute a Mental Defect," for Purposes of the Mental Responsibility Defense Under Wis. Stat. § 971.15, Because the Trial Evidence Supported Reasonable Factual Findings that Anderson Had a Mental Defect Which Arose Primarily from His Lawful Use of Prescribed Medicine, Together with His Lawful Consumption of a Moderate Amount of Alcohol and Other Secondary Factors.
  - A. The relevant statute, the applicable general principles of law and the standards of appellate review.

Wisconsin Statute § 971.15 provides<sup>5</sup> as follows:

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