RECEIVED

02-08-2012

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS COURT OF APPEAL OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2011AP1467-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DONYIL LEEITON ANDERSON, SR.,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND THE ORDER DENYING POST-CONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR ROCK COUNTY, THE HONORABLE JAMES P. DALEY, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN **Attorney General** SALLY L. WELLMAN **Assistant Attorney General** State Bar #1013419

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

A. Summary of Relevant Facts.

The jury¹ heard evidence that shortly before Anderson broke into his girlfriend's home and stabbed her to death and attempted to kill the man who was with her, Anderson had been drinking at a bar (90:71:Exh. 30:12; 93:58). He was arrested at approximately 2:15 a.m. on August 9, 2008 for battery as a result of a fight he had at the bar (93:38-40). Shortly after being processed at the police department he was released and allowed to leave because the arresting officer did not believe that he appeared to be under the influence of alcohol or sufficiently intoxicated to be a danger to the public or to need to be held for detoxification (93:42-43). The police were dispatched to the homicide and attempted homicide scene where Anderson was arrested shortly after 3:00 a.m. that same morning and was taken to the hospital for his own self-inflicted injuries (89:40). Based on a blood sample taken by hospital staff that was sent to the laboratory for toxicology analysis, Anderson's blood alcohol concentration was .0176 percent (92:220). Another blood sample subsequently tested yielded a blood

¹ At a jury trial, by pre-arrangement, the State put in evidence sufficient to prove guilt of the charged crimes of first-degree intentional homicide of Stacey Hosey (Anderson's former girlfriend and mother of his one-year-old son) and attempted first-degree murder of Brandon Beavers-Jackson (a man she was dating). Anderson then entered no-contest pleas to both charges, and the mental responsibility phase continued before the jury (44; 90:110).

alcohol result of 0.150, over the legal limit of 0.08 (93:25-26).

During the mental responsibility phase of trial, the defense expert offered the following opinion:

At the time of the incident, Mr. Anderson was unable to control himself and thus unable to conform his behaviors to the requirements of the law. This inability was a direct result of a mental disease or defect caused by a combination of factors. First, Mr. Anderson's ability to exert selfcontrol in emotionally provocative settings has been mildly impaired throughout his adult life. Secondly, his self-control was further impaired by the fact that he was suffering from his second episode of major depressive disorder which was not appropriately treated. Third, his self-control was additionally impaired by the impact of Strattera on brain functioning. These were all further compounded by his ingestion of alcohol.

. . .

Human beings experience many more aggressive urges and impulses than they actually act upon. This is because the brain systems involved in inhibiting behavior usually tend to dominate. However, this inhibitory brain system can be damaged or impaired in a variety of ways including, mental illness, traumatic injury—in other words, brain damage—or via chemicals and drugs. When the inhibitory brain system is impaired or damaged, then the individual has a mental defect.

On the night of August 8th, 2008, Mr. Anderson had exactly this mental defect. The brain system that would have enabled him to inhibit his aggressive urges and exert a measure of self-control was significantly impaired. These impairments had been building in Mr. Anderson over the preceding weeks as the dose of Strattera increased and his depression worsened. This was evident to many of Mr. Anderson's family and friends. Trivial provocations such as outbursts, including a sudden episode of domestic violence early in July and in August a bar fight following a trivial provocation. When he walked in on Ms. Hosey and Mr. Beavers-

Jackson, he accidently stumbled upon a situation that required an extraordinary measure of self-control. This may have been further aggravated by Ms. Hosey's inflammatory remarks. With the brain changes produced by Strattera, alcohol, and major depressive disorder, piled on top of his long-standing vulnerability, self control was an option unavailable to Mr. Anderson. These brain changes collectively produced a profound mental defect, making it impossible for him to control emotion-based urges. This left his aggressive impulse at the moment as Mr. Anderson's only course of action.

. . . .

Q. And in regards to the Strattera aspects, what, of all the aspects of that night, what is the most significant aspect that, that was employed?

A. Well, I'm not exactly sure I understand the question, but the way that I consider this, it's, there's complex factors. All at work simultaneously. It is my opinion that if you have the entire episode play out as it has, the only difference being no Strattera was ever part of the picture, I think it highly unlikely that Ms. Hosey would have been killed. So in that sense, Strattera has a very important role. I, again, I think it highly unlikely. I think it would have been, you know, an intense, there may have been, there would almost certainly have been forceful word and perhaps blows, but I do not think she would have been killed.

(92:161-65).

At the jury instructions conference on the mental responsibility phase, the prosecutor asked the trial court to give the optional standard instructions contained in Wis. JI-Criminal No. 605 (Rel. No. 41 —4/2003), that provides:

[A voluntarily induced state of intoxication by drugs or alcohol or both does not constitute a mental disease or defect.]

[A temporary mental state which is brought into existence by the voluntary taking of drugs or

alcohol does not constitute a mental disease or defect.]

(Wis. JI-CRIMINAL 605 (Rel. No. 41—4/2003); 93:115-16)) (footnotes omitted).

The trial court and parties discussed the matter (93:116-28). During the discussion, Anderson's trial counsel asked the court to modify the optional standard instruction by inserting the word "street" in front of the word "drugs"; the court denied that request (93:116; 95:22-23). As between the two optional standard instructions, Anderson's counsel stated he preferred the second rather than the first, and the trial court agreed to give only the second instruction (93:128). Anderson also asked the trial court to instruct the jury that it was up to them to define voluntary (93:125-27). The trial court declined to give that requested instruction (93:128).

Anderson never objected to the optional standard jury instruction that the trial court ruled it would give and did give (93:116-28). Anderson never argued that it was error to give the optional standard instruction under the facts of this case.

The defense expert testified that Anderson suffered a mental defect rather than a mental disease (92:225-26). He also testified that at the time of the crimes, it was not likely that Anderson's ability to know right from wrong or his ability to appreciate the wrongfulness of his conduct was impaired (92:160-61). Based on the testimony of the defense expert, with the parties' approval, the trial court instructed the jury only on whether at the time of the crimes, as a result of a mental defect, Anderson lacked substantial capacity to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law (93:16, 138).

Pursuant to these rulings, the trial court instructed the jury as follows:

The first question is at the time the crime was committed, did the defendant have a mental defect? Mental defect is an abnormal condition of the mind which substantially affects mental or emotional processes. The term "mental defect" identifies a legal standard that may not exactly match the medical terms used by mental health professionals. You are not bound by medical labels, definitions, or conclusions as to what is or is not a mental defect to which the witnesses may have referred.

You should not find that a person is suffering from a mental defect merely because the person committed an act, committed a criminal act or because of the unnaturalness or enormity of the act or because a motive for the act may be lacking. Temporary passion or frenzy prompted by revenge, hatred, jealousy, envy, or the like does not constitute a mental defect, does not constitute a mental defect [sic]. An abnormally, an abnormality manifested only by repeated criminal or otherwise antisocial conduct does not constitute a mental defect. A temporary mental state which is brought into existence by the voluntary taking of drugs or alcohol does not constitute a mental defect.

(93:138-39).

B. Anderson Is Not Entitled To Review Of Right Of The Challenges To The Jury Instruction That He Raises On Appeal Because He Did Not Raise Those Same Challenges In The Trial Court.

On appeal, Anderson does not argue that the trial court erred in denying his request to insert the word "street" in front of the word "drugs" in the optional standard jury instruction. By abandoning that claim on appeal, Anderson implicitly recognizes his request was properly denied. On appeal, Anderson does not argue that the trial court erred in denying his request to instruct the jury that it was up to them to define "voluntary." By

abandoning that claim on appeal, Anderson implicitly recognizes that his request was properly denied.

Rather than arguing the same legal claims that he argued in the trial court, on appeal Anderson raises claims that are new and different from the claims he raised in the trial court. In the trial court, he never objected that it would be error for the trial court to give the optional standard instruction.

On appeal, for the first time, he claims that by giving the optional standard instruction, the trial court "erred at the trial in instructing the jury that a mental responsibility defense, Wis. Stat. § 971.15(1), cannot be sustained by evidence that Anderson's temporary mental state was brought into existence, in part, by his lawful use of prescribed medicine." Anderson's Br. at 15. He further claims it was error to give the optional standard instruction because it "failed to distinguish between the lawful use of prescribed medicine and the use of illegal drugs, and failed to distinguish between the reasonable consumption of alcohol and the excessive consumption of alcohol in combination with prescribed medicine." Anderson's Br. at 19.

Anderson did not raise either of these objections to the optional standard jury instruction at trial. By failing to make a particularized objection to the optional standard jury instruction at trial, Anderson waived the right to review, as a matter of right, of the optional standard jury instruction given at trial. *In the Interest of C.E.W.:* Waukesha County Department of Social Services v. C.E.W., 124 Wis. 2d 47, 54, 368 N.W.2d 47 (1985); State v. Cockrell, 2007 WI App 217, ¶¶ 34-36, 306 Wis. 2d 52, 741 N.W.2d 267.

Anderson may argue that he did preserve the objections he raises on appeal because he proposed alternative/additional instructions when he asked the trial court to insert the word "street" in front of the word "drugs" in the optional standard instruction and when he

asked the court to tell the jury it was their role to define the term "voluntary" which was used in the optional standard instruction. Such an argument is without merit, as the Wisconsin Supreme Court explained:

A party's mere submission of alternate instructions without a particularized objection on the record to the instructions proposed by the court cannot provide a basis for raising the erroneous instruction on appeal as a matter of right. A party's submission of proposed instructions has the effect of notifying the circuit court of an objection to the instructions, but a submission does not explain the basis for the objection and does not aid the circuit court in correcting the instruction if necessary.

We conclude that the County failed to preserve its objection to the erroneous instructions. Failure to object to an instruction constitutes a waiver of the error.

In the Interest of C.E.W., 124 Wis. 2d at 54.

Even the alternative/additional language Anderson requested at trial constituted objections to the optional standard jury instruction, those objections are not preserved for appeal because Anderson raises new and different objections to the optional standard instruction on appeal. Neither Anderson's request that the word "street" be added to the optional standard instruction, nor his request that the jury be told it was its role to define "voluntary" was sufficient to raise the objections to the standard instruction that Anderson asserts on appeal. An objection to an instruction at trial on a ground that is different from the ground raised on appeal does not preserve the objection for appeal. Lampkins v. State, 51 Wis. 2d 564, 573, 187 N.W.2d 164 (1971). objection at trial preserves for appeal only the specific grounds stated at trial. Cf., State v. Wolff, 171 Wis. 2d 161, 165, 491 N.W.2d 498 (Ct. App. 1992). objection to a jury instruction at trial that is sufficiently particularized to bring into focus the nature of the alleged error is a prerequisite to review of the alleged error as a matter of right on appeal. *Vollmer v. Luety*, 156 Wis. 2d 1, 10, 456 N.W.2d 797 (1990).

Anderson will likely assert that he preserved the objections he raises on appeal because the trial court told the parties at the close of the jury instruction conference that they had each put their positions on the record and "you're not waiving it" (93:128). Anderson may have preserved the objections he made at trial. The problem is, he has abandoned those objections on appeal. He is no longer arguing that the word "street" should have been inserted into the optional standard instruction. He is no longer arguing that the jury should have been instructed that its role is to define "voluntary."

Indeed, he is now saying the opposite. He is now saying the optional standard instruction should not have been given at all because the instruction given as a matter of law, does not apply to his use of the prescription drug Strattera, even in combination with the voluntary consumption of alcohol. Anderson's Br. at 20-28.

For all of these reasons, Anderson failed to preserve at trial the challenges to the optional standard jury instruction that he raises on appeal. By failing to raise these same challenges in the trial court, Anderson waived the right to have this court review the challenges he raises on appeal as a matter of right. Indeed, this court does not have the power to review this type of waived error. *Cockrell*, 306 Wis. 2d 52, ¶ 36.

This court does have the authority to review a waived instructional error under the rubric of ineffective assistance of counsel, but Anderson has expressly declined to claim that trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel. Anderson's Br. at 29.

This court does have discretionary power to reverse a criminal conviction when a waived error regarding a jury instruction results in the real controversy not having been fully tried. *Cockrell*, 306 Wis. 2d 52, ¶ 36 n.12. Anderson asks this court to exercise that discretionary power in this case. Anderson's Br. at 28-30.

In the following section of this brief, the State will demonstrate why this court should decline to reverse Anderson's convictions and grant him a new trial in the interest of justice on the ground the real controversy was not fully tried.

II. A NEW TRIAL SHOULD NOT BE GRANTED IN THE INTEREST OF JUSTICE BECAUSE THE JURY INSTRUCTION GIVEN AT TRIAL DID NOT RESULT IN THE REAL CONTROVERSY NOT BEING FULLY TRIED.

Wisconsin Stats. § 752.35, gives the court of appeals authority to reverse a judgment or order appealed from and grant a new trial if it "appears from the record that the real controversy has not been fully tried" and it is "necessary to accomplish the ends of justice." The court of appeals has the same power in this regard as the supreme court has under its comparable statute. *Vollmer*, 156 Wis. 2d at 19. The appellate courts may reverse and grant relief on this ground without first finding there is a substantial probability of a different result at a new trial. *Id* at 19. The power to grant a new trial because the real controversy was not fully tried, however, "is formidable, and should be exercised sparingly and with great caution." *State v. Williams*, 2006 WI App 212, ¶ 36, 296 Wis. 2d 834, 723 N.W.2d 719.

The court of appeals may exercise this discretionary power to reverse where an error in the jury instructions occurred, but was waived, and that error resulted in the real controversy not having been fully tried. *Vollmer*, 156 Wis. 2d at 13, 20.

Anderson relies on his arguments on the merits to claim that he is entitled to a new trial in the interest of justice, if this court finds he did not preserve his objections to the jury instruction. Anderson's Br. at 29-30. The State will demonstrate below that Anderson is wrong on the merits of his claim that the jury instruction was erroneous and misleading. Accordingly, his interest of justice claim also necessarily fails.

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